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AUTHOR’S NOTE


With the exception of the fictional Juliette Willoughby, Oskar Erlich and Austen Willoughby, all the artists mentioned or who appear in this novel are genuine historical figures.









PROLOGUE


CAROLINE, DUBAI, THE PRESENT DAY


It is time to begin.


I am standing at a podium in front of a painting in an art gallery in Dubai. It is not a large painting – 30 inches by 21 inches, to be precise. It is not a very large gallery – we are in the biggest of its three rooms, a white-painted space about the size of a school classroom. Arranged in front of me are several rows of folding chairs, occupied by reporters. I have already been introduced to a writer from the Telegraph and the Gulf News podcast team. A group of press photographers are clicking away, flashguns strobing. At the back are two TV crews, one from a local Arabic station, one from BBC News.


Beside me at the podium is the owner of the gallery, the organizer of this press conference, Patrick Lambert.


‘Dr Caroline Cooper,’ Patrick is saying, ‘is a Fellow of Pembroke College and professor of modern art at the University of Cambridge, specializing in the Surrealist movement in the 1930s, with a focus on Surrealist art by women, in particular that of British painter Juliette Willoughby.’


Patrick lists my publications, highlighting my 1998 biography of Juliette, the first ever written and still – he reminds everyone – the definitive account of the artist’s life, work and untimely death. He also mentions how long he and I have known each other. One or two audience members smile knowingly.


The painting on the wall behind us is entitled Self-Portrait as Sphinx. It was painted by Juliette – then twenty-one years old – in the winter of 1937–38, and was first displayed at the era-defining International Surrealist Exhibition in Paris in 1938. For decades it was lost, believed destroyed. Last night it was sold, right here, for £42 million.


‘Thank you, Patrick,’ I say as he takes a seat in the front row. He gives me a wink. I stifle a smile back.


I have been asked to keep my speech short: just five minutes in which to explain Surrealism, its historical context and underlying philosophy. To emphasize why this artwork matters, why I believe it to be genuine, and why I am prepared to stake my professional reputation on that opinion. To tell the story of the artist and this painting, and how it was lost, and how it was found again – twice.


It is a story that begins one wet autumn morning in Cambridge in 1991, at our first dissertation supervision with Alice Long, setting Patrick and me on a path that would eventually lead us to Juliette’s lost masterpiece.


It is a story that begins one winter evening in Paris in 1937, when a runaway British heiress embarked, in the cold and cramped Montmartre studio she shared with her famous artist lover, on one of the most remarkable paintings of its era.


It is also, I suppose, the story of Patrick and me. How we fell in love. How a painting brought us together, drove us apart, and now seems to have united us once more.


Of everything I have to say, I am aware that thirty seconds at most will make it onto TV, a sentence or two into the newspapers. The headlines will be all about the sum the painting sold for, and who bought it.


But perhaps what I really want to tell everyone in this room is: Look at it. Look at her, I almost said. Because it is her you notice first. The work’s dominant central figure. Her wild auburn mane. Her ice-blue eyes. Her expression: defiant, fearless. Then you notice her breasts are bare. Then you notice there are six of them, arranged like the teats on a cat. Then you notice she has a cat’s legs too, a cat’s haunches, tortoiseshell-patterned. Sharp claws. And you start to wonder what it might mean, to depict yourself as a Sphinx. As this Sphinx.


Only up close can you truly appreciate the painting’s vast intricacy, the people and creatures arranged around the central Sphinx, all intent on their individual tasks, seemingly unaware of one another, in a setting that is part overgrown English country garden, part junglescape. Each new group you notice invites reflection on the story that together they might tell, your initial bewilderment perhaps fading, perhaps deepening, as patterns and echoes emerge and new mysteries present themselves.


The mystery that the journalists in this room are interested in, of course, is a far simpler one: how can this impossible painting exist at all? The answer is that I am not sure. All I can confidently state is my belief in its authenticity, which means we need to reconsider everything we thought we knew about Juliette Willoughby, her life and her work.


But I don’t have time to say any of that. I have just wished everyone a good afternoon when there is a commotion at the doorway – three latecomers have loudly barged in, asking the same question repeatedly in Arabic. Someone turns to shush them. I am just about to point out that there are still some empty seats at the front when I notice they are in uniform: khaki shirts and trousers tucked into shiny black boots, with angled gold-badged berets. A gallery assistant points out Patrick and they make their way in our direction. I am still – somewhat distractedly – talking about the painting. Patrick, frowning, is out of his chair and advancing to meet the men. The photographers are snapping away, the TV cameras are rolling.


Capturing for posterity and a global audience Patrick Lambert’s arrest for murder.













PART I


THE JOURNAL




What do you consider the essential encounter of your life? To what extent did this encounter seem to you, and does it seem to you now, to be fortuitous or foreordained?


– ANDRÉ BRETON, Mad Love (1937, TRANS. MARY ANN CAWS)



















CHAPTER 1


PATRICK, CAMBRIDGE, 1991


Oh bloody hell. That was my first thought as I plowed through an axle-deep puddle and onto Elm Lane, making out through my windshield a bedraggled figure, her blonde hair hanging in dripping ringlets down her back. This was going to be awkward.


It was Caroline Cooper.


There seemed little doubt we were headed for the same place – why else would she be wandering up a windswept street on the outskirts of Cambridge? My director of studies had mentioned that these final-year dissertation supervisions would be taking place à deux. He said he hoped that would not be a problem and I reassured him it would not be, vaguely hoping my supervision partner would be attractive, female. I should also have hoped for someone with whom I had not already slept.


She was standing at the end of a driveway, peering up it, presumably looking for a house number. I slowed the MG to a crawl. Even rain-soaked, she was stunning. I checked my own appearance in the rear-view mirror. Caroline Cooper. What were the chances of that?


She and I had slept together twice, back at the very beginning of our first year. Once after a party, then again a few weeks later, having tipsily bumped into each other at a college dance. The first time was in her room, with its fairy lights around the mirror and Frida Kahlo poster on the wall. I recalled the narrowness of her bed, waking up in the night desperate for a pee but not wanting to disturb her or break the moment’s spell, our legs entangled, her head on my chest.


The second time, we had meandered back to my room holding hands, stopping now and then to kiss in a doorway. Half that night we stayed up talking, drinking cheap white wine from chipped mugs and smoking out the window, surveying the moonlit quad below. Talking about Cambridge, her first impressions of it. Discussing art and artists. I told her stories about my father, about boarding school. It was obvious we were attracted to each other. It also felt like we were really connecting, as if this was the start of something very exciting indeed.


What happened next was . . . nothing. I left a note in her college pigeonhole. No reply. I kept an eye out for her in lectures, but she began arriving just before they started and sitting on the opposite side of the lecture hall, then slipping off quickly at the end.


I turned that second night over and over in my mind, trying to pinpoint what I’d done wrong. Was it something I had said? I probably was a bit of a show-off in those days, keen to make an impression, establish myself as a bit of a Cambridge character. Driving around town in my silly sports car. Playing up to the public schoolboy thing, the floppy hair, the accent . . .


It quickly became obvious what while I may have felt a spark between us, Caroline had not. Once or twice, she crossed the street to avoid me. When we passed in the Art History Department corridors or she accidentally sat opposite me in the library, I received only the faintest of acknowledgements. After a while, no matter how much you like someone, you have no choice but to take the hint.


I tapped the horn lightly and Caroline looked up. She recognized my car, of course – how many students drove around Cambridge in a red MG convertible? – and forced an unconvincing smile. I pulled over and rolled the window down. It was not a situation in which we could just both ignore each other, after all.


‘I suspect we’re looking for the same place,’ I said.


‘I think this is it,’ she replied. ‘Number thirty-two?’


‘That was the address Dr Bailey gave me.’


The house certainly looked the part: either an academic lived here or it was derelict. Slates were missing from the roof. The downstairs curtains were drawn. Something shrubby was sprouting from a sagging gutter. Caroline pressed the doorbell. Nothing happened.


‘Are you sure you . . . ?’ I asked.


She invited me to try for myself. It was unclear if the doorbell was even connected to anything. Tentatively at first, then again more firmly, I knocked. Caroline took a step back to peer up at the first-floor windows.


‘There are no lights on,’ she pointed out. ‘Do you think she’s forgotten?’


‘Maybe. She must be getting on a bit, after all. Have you ever heard of her, this Alice Long?’


I had not, although the university library did list three books by her – one on Man Ray, one on Brassaï, and another on the history of photojournalism. She had been a press photographer herself, for Time and Vogue, according to the author bio in the last of these, published in 1980. Even a decade ago, Alice Long had looked quite old in her author’s headshot.


‘Maybe she can’t hear us,’ I said. ‘Do you think I should go around and shout over the back fence?’


‘For God’s sake,’ Caroline muttered behind me. ‘Who is this person, anyway? She isn’t part of the faculty. She isn’t affiliated with a college. Why is she supervising final-year dissertations? I might complain. This project is an important part of our degree, you know.’


I could understand Caroline’s anxiety. Even in the first year, she had been clear about how seriously she took her subject, what her end goal was: a life of scholarship, teaching, writing. I could easily see her as a cool young academic, inspiring her students, probably while wearing a leather jacket and red lipstick. Like a dickhead, trying to impress her, I had detailed my own career plans: a first-class degree, a job at Sotheby’s, my own Mayfair gallery by the age of thirty. I must have sounded obscenely entitled and overconfident, but in my defence, I was eighteen. I said a lot of things out loud in those days that I have since learned to keep to myself.


Still, the bottom line was this: if we had been stuck with a dud supervisor and it impacted badly on our final-degree result, we could kiss our respective dreams goodbye.


From the other side of the door, a bolt was pulled back with a screech. It was another few minutes before the door finally opened – in the meantime much fiddling with other locks could be heard.


‘Hello there,’ I said loudly, I hoped reassuringly. ‘It’s Patrick and Caroline. We’re History of Art students. From the university.’


The face in the doorway was wrinkled and sallow, topped with a tangle of white hair. Alice Long was wearing a brown pleated dress, grey knee-length socks, and a suspicious frown. She looked even older than I had been expecting.


‘You’re late,’ she said sternly.


‘Sorry,’ I told her. ‘We have been knocking for a while . . .’


As I stepped into the hallway, I checked my hair in a foxed little wall mirror. Alice Long shuffled off, disappearing through an open door, obviously expecting us to follow her. In the gloom, I was vaguely aware of a Persian rug underfoot, dirt-darkened, threadbare. Framed black-and-white photographs hung on the wall, a thick layer of dust obscuring their subjects.


I let Caroline go ahead of me and when she reached the end of the corridor I saw her stiffen.


‘Please,’ Alice Long said, indicating a very small sofa – a large armchair, really – with high sides. ‘Sit.’


She settled on a wooden chair next to a table piled with books, while Caroline and I sat down gingerly, trying to avoid touching each other. The room’s net curtains were drawn, its main source of light an unshaded bulb hanging from a wire.


‘So, Patrick,’ said Alice Long without preamble. ‘You’re interested in Surrealism, are you?’


‘Very interested,’ I said firmly, leaning forwards to emphasize this, eager to make a good impression. ‘What fascinates me is the way Surrealist art fearlessly explores the inner workings of the mind. Its rejection of conformity and willingness to embrace the mythical and dreamlike. All those haunting, seemingly random scenes and images that seem to spring direct from the subconscious.’


Alice Long smiled faintly, eyeing me intently.


‘People always go on about Dalí and Magritte,’ I continued, ‘but the painter who really encapsulates the movement for me is Oskar Erlich.’


This was clearly not something she had expected me to say. She raised a slightly surprised eyebrow and gestured for me to continue.


‘Anyway, I want to focus my dissertation on the 1938 International Surrealist Exhibition in Paris, their last great show before the war. It was a huge media event, all the artists associated with the movement showing: Erlich, Picasso, Man Ray, Miró . . .’


Alice Long made a little gesture with her hand as if to say, I know all this.


‘I intend to explore the way the exhibition was organized,’ I continued. ‘The manner in which it was publicized, its cultural impact.’


She greeted this with a thoughtful frown. ‘You have a potentially interesting topic there. The argument will need development, though,’ she said.


‘Oh, definitely,’ I said, a little crushed. Potentially interesting? Potentially interesting?


Alice Long then pivoted in her chair to ask Caroline what she was working on. Caroline cleared her throat, brought out her notebook, and started to read. It quickly became clear that she had done a lot more preparation than I had. She intended to explore Sphinxes in Surrealist art, she explained. She had notes on the different types of Sphinx (royal and monstrous, Greek and Egyptian), male and female, winged and unwinged. She made the point that we use the Greek word Sphinx – masculine, I interjected, pleased with myself – to describe interchangeably what were actually distinct and unrelated creatures in Greek and Egyptian mythology. She ended by saying something like: ‘And that’s as far as I have got, Sphinx-wise.’


Alice Long – engaged, enthusiastic, a lot livelier than when I had been talking – asked her which particular works she would write about. Caroline mentioned Max Ernst’s Une Semaine de bonté, Dalí’s Three Sphinxes of Bikini, Leonor Fini’s Little Hermit Sphinx . . .


‘What about Juliette Willoughby’s Self-Portrait as Sphinx?’ asked Alice Long.


‘Oh yes, of course,’ said Caroline, although with a trace of hesitation in her voice.


If that was a line of inquiry Caroline was interested in pursuing, Alice Long continued, she should examine the Willoughby Bequest. ‘It’s a collection of Egyptological materials formerly in the possession of the Willoughby family deposited at the Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology, here in Cambridge,’ she explained, in response to Caroline’s confused frown. Caroline wrote this down and as she did so glanced at me meaningfully. I offered her in return the facial equivalent of a hapless shrug.


Juliette Willoughby? The Willoughby Bequest? Was Alice Long being serious? Like most people with an interest in the Surrealists, I knew only two things about Juliette Willoughby, the most obvious being that she had been Oskar Erlich’s lover. All his biographies recounted their love story and its tragic ending.


This had to be some sort of test. If it was not, then I really did think we were going to have to talk seriously to our respective directors of studies about this supervisor they had assigned us. From the look on Caroline’s face, she was thinking the same thing. I raised my hand.


‘Mr Lambert?’ Alice Long said curtly.


‘Isn’t there a bit of a problem, for anyone planning to write about Juliette Willoughby?’ I asked. Because there was only one other thing everyone knew about the artist and her work. ‘Her paintings don’t exist.’ I continued. ‘None of them. Everything she produced at art school was lost when she left England for Paris in 1936. Self-Portrait as Sphinx, the only painting she ever exhibited publicly, is listed in the catalogue of the 1938 Surrealist Exhibition and described in a couple of reviews, but that’s it. Not a single photograph of it survives, none of her sketches or studies, and the painting itself was destroyed in a fire in Paris in 1938.’


The same unexplained fire that killed both Juliet Willoughby and Oskar Erlich.


CAROLINE, CAMBRIDGE, 1991


Philophobia. That’s the technical term for it. A fear of falling in love. A chronic fear of falling in love. I didn’t know it even had a name back then, but thanks to Patrick Lambert, I knew its symptoms well enough: panic attacks, dizziness, nausea, a feeling that your throat is closing up and you are about to pass out. Every time you think about someone, or how much you like them.


The first time I met Patrick, I was instantly smitten. The dark curls, the hooded green eyes, the lopsided grin that poked a dimple in one cheek. He was funny, smart. Unlike a lot of the boys I had met at Cambridge, when he asked you a question, he genuinely listened to your answer.


The second time we slept together, we were both quite drunk. We kissed on the dance floor. We kissed on the quad. We kissed in his room, unable to keep our hands off each other, then sat, sheets wrapped around our naked bodies, talking and laughing for hours. He told me how it felt being sent off to boarding school at the age of seven, suddenly surrounded by larger, louder, more confident boys and desperately missing home. I listened intently, deftly deflecting his questions about my own childhood.


‘Hey, I really like you,’ he said at one point, casually cool, bumping bare shoulders affectionately.


‘I really like you too,’ I said back truthfully, although even then I could feel my spine stiffening, my stomach tightening. Because how many times had I heard from my grandmother about what a brilliant, joyful girl my mother had been, growing up. About her painting, her drawing, all the competitions she had won. All the friends she had, all the hopes and ambitions, before she met my father. How firmly had I promised myself I would never allow anyone to stand between me and what I wanted to achieve. No matter how much I liked them. No matter how tousled their hair, how appealing their dimple.


Perhaps I could have handled things better, tried to explain all this to Patrick. But where would I have begun? How could I have explained something that I could not yet put a name to?


Even now, I struggle to describe the roil of emotions, the hot surges of embarrassment and alarm, of horror and happiness, that I felt when Patrick pulled up outside Alice Long’s house and it dawned on me we would be meeting like this all year. I spent quite a lot of that first hour-long supervision trying to work out if I could politely decline a lift back into town. Then we got outside and saw the weather.


The drizzle had turned into a downpour. Patrick was standing a step ahead of me on the porch, trying unsuccessfully to angle his umbrella so it sheltered us both from the rain.


‘Can I offer you a ride?’ he asked.


‘Um, well . . .’ I hesitated, aware of how long I’d had to wait for a bus out here.


‘On a count of three, then,’ said Patrick, and we ran to the car in attempted lockstep under the umbrella, his bag bumping between us.


I had never been in a sports car before and was unprepared for the intimacy of the experience. How close to each other we were sitting. The way that every time he changed gear, his hand brushed my knee. Just like in the supervision, I tried not to think about the last time we had been this physically proximate.


By the time we approached the centre of town, the rain was even worse, bouncing off the car windows, hammering on the roof. When we stopped at a set of traffic lights, Patrick turned and fixed me with a serious look. ‘So what do you make of Alice Long, then?’


‘Well, she’s certainly . . . unusual.’


‘That’s an understatement.’


‘I also think she’s kind of . . . amazing? All that stuff she was saying about Juliette Willoughby?’


There had been moments over the last three years, in lectures, in seminars, when it felt like my whole world was being tilted slightly on its axis. When things I had unquestioningly accepted my whole life suddenly came apart to reveal their constituent components, and they all fitted together, or disintegrated entirely. When the thing that everyone took for granted turned out to be not the end of the discussion but the start of a much more important one. Had Juliette’s masterpiece been lost? Maybe so, Alice Long had conceded. But what does it mean to say lost? Lost why? By whom? Are you happy – her bright eyes burned into mine as she asked – to simply accept that? Her Self-Portrait as Sphinx was personally selected for the exhibition by André Breton – the pope of Surrealism himself, the movement’s great theorist and propagandist. Contemporary reviewers compared her talent to that of Salvador Dalí and Max Ernst, Alice Long reminded us. Why not re-examine those reviews, the letters and diaries of Juliette’s Paris circle? There must be mention of her work somewhere. Lost? Pfft, Alice Long exclaimed. Lots of things in the world are only lost because no one has bothered to look for them.


It sounded like a challenge. It sounded like a life’s work. It made me think of my own mother and her dreams of becoming an artist, and all the overlooked, underappreciated women like her over the centuries.


Patrick did not seem to have found all this quite as inspiring as I did.


The windshield wipers swept back and forth, squeaking. He mused in silence for some minutes. ‘Lots of Oskar Erlich’s work was lost in that fire too, you know,’ he said defensively.


‘Exactly Alice Long’s point! Lots of his work was lost but lots survives, because he spent pretty much his entire career being celebrated and collected and written about in books that barely mention Juliette, let alone the fact that she was an artist in her own right.’


The light turned green and we sped off, Patrick careering through a massive puddle and soaking from head to toe a student in an orange raincoat. In the rearview mirror I could see him shaking himself down, staring after us. I turned in my seat to mouth an apology.


‘Here we are,’ said Patrick, flicking the indicator too late as he swerved over to the other side of the road. ‘The Museum of Archaeology and Anthropology.’


It was time to lay my cards on the table. ‘Patrick, do you know anything about this Willoughby Bequest? Have you any idea what Alice Long thinks I’m going to find there?’


He smiled. ‘I know a little about it,’ he said. One of his hands was resting loosely atop the steering wheel. The other was on the stick, ready to shift his car into gear. ‘Have you read anything about Juliette’s family and their history?’


‘Not much. I know the Willoughbys were well-off. Her father, Cyril, was an MP, wasn’t he?’


‘And a collector of Egyptian artifacts. He filled an entire wing of his house with them. Quite an eccentric, by all accounts, and a bit of a recluse in his later years. He’s buried at Longhurst Hall, the family estate, in a mausoleum he commissioned, supposedly a scale model of the Pyramid of Djoser in Saqqara, the oldest known pyramid in Egypt.’


‘So Alice Long wants me to explore if there is a personal angle to Juliette’s interest in Sphinxes?’


‘I’d imagine so, and in that case this Willoughby Bequest would certainly be a good place to start. When Juliette’s father died, Longhurst Hall and his collection all went to his youngest brother, Austen, Juliette’s uncle. Who kept the house but off-loaded the Egyptian stuff to the University of Cambridge.’


‘And that’s how it ended up here?’ I gestured out the window to the looming redbrick building that Patrick’s car was currently double-parked outside, hazard lights flashing.


‘Exactly. As it happens, my dad was at Cambridge with Austen’s son Philip. And I was at school with his son, Harry.’


Of course you were, I thought. It was still astonishing to me, after three years as a student here, how frequently and how casually people like Patrick would slip this sort of thing into conversation. That his father had been at Cambridge with Juliette Willoughby’s cousin. That Patrick had been at school with his son. Like my friend Athena Galanis, who halfway through a Picasso lecture had told me she was pretty sure her father had at one point owned the painting in the slide. Like the boy in a second year tutorial whose uncle turned out to have written the definitive work on the week’s topic (Flemish Mannerism in the Early Sixteenth Century). It was a small world and it felt very distant from the one I grew up in.


‘The thing is,’ Patrick continued, ‘even Philip and Harry can’t quite explain what happened. Because the family never even tried to sell what Cyril spent decades accumulating, although it was worth a fortune. They just gave it all away. Which, if you knew the Willoughbys and what they’re like about money . . .’


Someone trying to squeeze their car past us down the street honked their horn. ‘Okay, okay! Keep your wig on,’ Patrick muttered over his shoulder. He returned his attention to me.


‘The rumour is that the Willoughbys wanted to get rid of all that stuff because – well, they have had a lot of bad luck, that family. Odd and unfortunate things have happened in that house.’


‘Patrick, are you seriously trying to tell me they believed the collection was cursed?’ I asked.


He shrugged stagily. I opened the car door and climbed out.


Patrick rolled down the window and rested his elbow on the frame. ‘I guess all I am saying is’ – he dropped into a parody of a horror movie voice, adding a little creak and echo to his words – ‘be careful, Caroline!’


He grinned and winked, then revved the engine and sped away, and with a prickle of apprehension – and a lurch of the stomach – I realized I was still a little smitten with Patrick Lambert.


Five hours later, my excitement about working on Juliette Willoughby, and much of my enthusiasm about working with Alice Long, was wearing off. The library was airless and silent. Through the windows, the gloom of an autumn afternoon was deepening rapidly to night.


As far as I could see, the Willoughby Bequest was a mess. The first thing the librarian – an elderly woman with striking blue eyes and a somewhat suspicious manner – had asked me was which part exactly I wanted to view. I must have looked blank. She explained that the bequest was divided into three parts: the artifacts, some of which were on display in the museum upstairs; the many papyri (very fragile, not accessible without special permission); and the seventy-two boxes of unsorted general material, unlabelled, undated. Assuming this was where anything relevant to Juliette and her interest in Sphinxes would be, I asked for this unsorted ephemera first.


It was possible this had been a mistake.


The boxes seemed to contain the entire contents of Cyril Willoughby’s study. Old letters. Handwritten notebooks full of hieroglyphs. Notepaper from Shepheard’s Hotel in Cairo. One by one, the librarian brought these boxes up from the bowels of the building. One by one, I combed through them, trying to give the appearance of someone who knew what they were looking for. She explained that a new archivist, a PhD student, had been hired to put it all into some sort of order. His name was Sam Fadel and if I had any questions I should look him up.


After five hours and nineteen boxes, I was getting increasingly frustrated with the whole process. Promising myself that if I managed to sift through them all I could at least tell Alice Long I’d done my best, I began lifting the next battered Manila carton’s contents out item by item and placing them on the table. More letters, invoices. More notebooks. Then a tattered envelope caught my attention, M et Mme Cyril Willoughby written in looping script on the front. It was heavier than I had been expecting, when I picked it up, and more intriguing than anything else I had yet come across.


Easing it open carefully with my thumb, I tipped it and out slithered a thin gold chain – a necklace, with a pendant attached. The pendant was beaten gold, oval-shaped, about two inches long, etched on one side with an elaborately stylized representation of an eye: a long, curving line to represent an eyebrow, a line sweeping back from the eye’s rear corner, terminating in a curl.


I could also feel the outlines of two book-like objects inside the envelope. One had a grainy texture, and I shimmied this out first. It was a navy blue British passport, the royal coat of arms embossed on the front. Handwritten, in block letters, in the little lozenge-shaped window at the bottom, was ‘Miss Juliette Willoughby’.


I let the passport fall open, and from the photograph page the most extraordinary face stared back at me – wide-awake, icy eyes; thick, arched eyebrows; a full mouth set in a hard line; a young woman with a dusting of freckles. Juliette’s wild tumble of curls filled almost the entire frame. I turned the pages and found Juliette’s signature and two stamps, one for Rome (1935), one for Paris (1936). It was a stark reminder that she had been a real, living person, just like me. That with this in her hand, she might have imagined travelling all around the world, and instead . . .


Hands quivering, I placed the passport on the desk and slid from the envelope a notebook, fragile to the touch, its unlined pages filled not just with dated entries but sketches and studies. Charcoal drawings of a Sphinx, the artist’s fingers dragged across the page to contour the creature’s eyes, lips, mane. Intricate pencil compositions, the same characters over and over placed in different scenes. Annotated daubs of colour on the back pages, each numbered but barely decipherable. Interspersed between these, passages of text in spidery, barely legible cursive handwriting.


On the flyleaf, in fountain pen, someone had written the initials ‘J. W.’ and an address in Paris.


I traced the letters with a finger. Their curves. Their swirls.


J. W.


Juliette Willoughby.


I turned the pages carefully, terrified that the brittle paper would crack or crumble, until I came to the first entry. It began: 11 November 1937 – It is almost midnight. I am writing this in bed. . . .


JULIETTE’S JOURNAL, PARIS, 1937


First Entry


Thursday, 11 November – It is almost midnight. I am writing this in bed. The night is cold and I am tucked up under every blanket in the place, my toes like little lumps of ice in Oskar’s thick woollen socks. I am saving the last of the firewood for the morning, and there is just a very faint glow from the embers in the stove, the occasional clink as they settle.


This appartement that Oskar and I rent is on the top floor of a five-storey building. Once it must have been rather grand. Now it is terribly shabby. Every so often you come up the stairs to find another chunk of the cornicing has come off, another strut from the banisters missing. In the summer, ours is the hottest room in the whole place, in winter the coldest. There is running water in the kitchenette, when the pipes have not frozen. The bedroom and our studio are one space, not especially large, divided by a canvas curtain, the same fabric Oskar stretches over wooden struts and primes for us to paint on.


Apart from the bed (iron, ancient, unbelievably heavy), two wooden chairs and a small round table are the only furniture. There is no carpet. There is a little potbelly stove you have to be careful not to brush up against. There is a single flushing toilet (one sits with one’s knees right up against the door) at the end of the corridor. Our windows overlook a courtyard, from which at all hours the sounds of the rest of the house rise. A dog is barking. A woman is shouting. On the walls are paintings, ours and gifts from our circle, as well as photographs I have taken of this city, of our friends, on the little Leica camera that Oskar gave me for my birthday.


It all feels a very long way from Longhurst. From the world of my childhood.


We have been happy here in Paris, Oskar and I. Deliriously happy, at times, and yet . . . Do truly happy people keep diaries? I wonder. To whom am I really explaining myself, on these pages?


I should write something about Oskar.


I first met Oskar Erlich at a party at the New Burlington Galleries to celebrate the opening of the first International Surrealist Exhibition in London. It was 11 June 1936. He was standing in front of one of his own paintings, The Young Girl’s Dream – a red-haired waif in a diaphanous dress, back to the viewer, her pale thin face and enigmatic expression reflected in an ornate mirror. He was surrounded by men with notebooks, women in hats, all fawning, asking him to explain Surrealism, what it meant to be a Surrealist. I was loitering by the doorway, hoping no one too boring or awful would talk to me, waiting for the friend who had invited me to come back from the loo.


Then Oskar and I locked eyes.


Oskar always says he will never forget the way I met his gaze and returned it, or the unhesitating confidence with which I crossed the room to introduce myself. ‘Hello,’ I said, offering him my hand to shake. ‘My name is Juliette Willoughby and I’m an artist.’


I may have sounded bold, but inside I was trembling. All around the room I could see – or thought I could see – people glancing at me, exchanging looks, wondering who I was, how I had the nerve to just walk up and present myself to the star of the evening like that. It is a question I have since asked myself. It probably helped that I could see from his paintings that Oskar had a type and I was it.


All that evening, Oskar and I talked – my friend rather put out about that, flouncing off back to our lodgings eventually – and the next day we met again, at a little coffee stand in St James’s Park. As we walked around the fountain and examined the art for sale on the railings, he told me about his early years in Düsseldorf, his student days in Paris, the rows he had with his parents about his decision to give up his medical studies and become a great painter. I told him about my life in London, my classes at the Slade, the disappointment I felt in my teachers.


How heroic, how foolish it all appears, written down. Gambling our whole lives on an instant of intense connection, two people noticing each other across a room and feeling an affinity. Making a decision that would transform the course of both our lives after having known each other for less than twenty-four hours. The strangest thing of all being that it did not seem strange when he asked me at the end of that day if I would consider returning with him to Paris.


And live where? I asked him. And live with me, he said. And do what? I asked him. He smiled a little to himself, as if the answer was obvious, and then he said: paint. It should have sounded ludicrous, felt absurd. Instead, in the moment, what would have felt absurd would have been to refuse.


I was under no illusions about how my father would react to all this. It was clear the break must be sudden and final. There would be no wedding in the little chapel at Longhurst, no party in the gardens by the lake. There would be no forgiveness, no reconciliation. To have fallen in love with an artist, that would have been bad enough. To have fallen in love with a foreign artist, a German? Unthinkable. Especially when that artist was more than twice my age and still married to somebody else.


They must have no warning, I told Oskar. Nothing but a letter to let them know I was safe, that I was in love, that they should not try to find me, and they would never see or hear from me again.


I left my farewell note with a friend, not telling her what was in it, asking her to post it in a day or two’s time. It was goodbye to my old life, and good riddance.


I threw all my sketchbooks, all the canvases propped against my bedroom wall, all the awful, lifeless work I had produced at the Slade into the bins at the back of the building. I packed my paints and brushes – expensively replenished on regular trips to Covent Garden by my uncle Austen – a very few things to wear, and my passport, acquired for that dull and disappointing field trip to Rome to troop around the Vatican galleries. Then I left my lodgings and took the underground alone to Charing Cross station, and I vanished.


It is hard to believe that it has been more than a year since I first arrived here in Paris. Sometimes my dreams of that passage are so vivid it feels as if, were I to open my eyes, I would find myself back at the station, so crowded, so cacophonous. On that train, every carriage crammed, or anxiously searching at the other end for the right boat. Hearing the click of the cabin door behind us, as the reality of what we were doing suddenly hit me.


We woke early, Oskar and I, went up on deck to watch in the dawn for the first glimpse of France. As we had agreed, we did not acknowledge each other in the line to have our passports stamped. There was some part of me not just anxious but convinced someone was going to stop us. The police? A private detective? My father himself? I was not quite sure.


It was late afternoon, the city a smear of lights through a grimy window, as the boat-train began to slow and we neared the Gare du Nord. From time to time, I made a point of conspicuously twiddling on my finger the phony wedding ring Oskar had bought me from a pawn shop in Holborn.


Paris! I could not believe it, really. It all felt too easy. It was almost dismaying to imagine that this freedom had always been mine to reach out and grasp.


‘You see?’ Oskar had asked me, the glow from a street lamp falling through the taxi window and illuminating the curve of his mouth, ‘I told you it would be fine.’ I smiled back, returning the squeeze of his hand. I tried not to imagine my father’s fury, my mother’s bewilderment, attempting to maintain the self-belief I had felt in the moment I met Oskar. I wondered if it had occurred to him that I might still be a virgin, that this would be the first time I had ever spent the night in bed with a man.


Intensely conscious that was just one of the many things he did not know about me yet.










CHAPTER 2


Patrick, Cambridge, 1991


The day after our first supervision with Alice Long, I returned to my college room from a morning lecture to find a note under my door. My father had called and someone had jotted down a message from him: he was passing through town today on his way back from East Anglia and would be waiting to meet me for lunch at Browns at one o’clock. I checked my wristwatch. It was 12:45.


This was very much par for the course with Dad. Turning up unannounced. Expecting me to drop whatever plans I might have and meet him.


As a child, I idolized my father. He was handsome. He was stylish (the cars, the tailored blazers, the monogrammed silver hip flask). He was conspicuously charming, with a considered opinion about everything (wine, art, London restaurants). He was also, it turned out, a deeply unreliable serial philanderer.


As we were being shown to our seats, Dad immediately started flirting with the waitress, trying to upgrade our table. I sighed inwardly. It was one of the things I had told Caroline about my father, his obsession with always trying to get a window table, a better table, the best table. A performance I had to endure every time we dined together. A chance to demonstrate his powers of persuasion. A way of drawing attention to himself.


We ended up – the two of us – at a six-seat table by the window, looking out on Trumpington Street.


Once we were settled and had ordered our drinks, the first thing he asked about was the car. Running okay, was she? I was taking good care of her, he hoped. Like a dream, I told him. Waxing her every week. It was a big symbol of my relationship with my father, that car. He’d bought it the day I received my Cambridge acceptance letter. On the one hand, it had been an extravagantly generous gesture, one I suspected he could not really afford. On the other hand, it was also a massive pain in the backside. Finding somewhere safe to park it. Never knowing on cold mornings if it would start. Having a car at all in a place where I was never more than a ten-minute walk from anywhere else I wanted to be. When I had tried to explain all this to Caroline, she had asked me why I did not just sell it. She had a point. She also did not know my father.


The next thing Dad asked was how my studies were going. He wanted to know all about my dissertation, my supervisor. Although I had not mentioned this to Alice Long, it was actually my father – an art dealer himself – who had introduced me to the Surrealists, when he took me to the Oskar Erlich retrospective in London a few years back, and who had suggested the 1938 Paris Surrealist Exhibition might provide an interesting topic for a dissertation. He had also encouraged me to think about my chosen topic in career terms, as a chance to establish myself as the expert in some corner of art history no one else seemed very interested in.


Over our starters, Dad explained why he’d been in East Anglia (a house clearance just beyond Norwich – he was there to value things on behalf of the family, make sure nothing accidentally got sold for a song, or if it did, that it was to him). He had popped into Longhurst on the way back to see Philip Willoughby. There were a few things at the house that Philip had wanted him to value. He had, as usual, stayed in the Green Room, the bedroom he always stayed in at Longhurst, and which by some weird tradition Harry’s mother also now always put me in. This was the sort of thing that delighted Dad, and that he was always trying to shoehorn into conversation.


They were pretty formulaic, these catch-ups of ours. He asked about Mum, I asked about his latest girlfriend (these were of quite a specific type, usually, divorced blondes who drove convertibles and owned boutiques in the Cotswolds). He would tell a work-related story in which he was right about something and everyone else wrong and then (a glass of wine in) grill me on whether I was making the most of Cambridge, moving in the right circles, meeting the right sort of people.


He had, once or twice, actually used that phrase the right circles. ‘Do you mean posh people, Dad?’ I had asked him. ‘Or do you just mean rich people?’


‘I mean the kind of people who can give you a leg up in life,’ he had replied. ‘Especially if you are serious about getting into my line of work. People who own art, people who buy it.’


As we were waiting for our mains to arrive, he asked if I had been invited to Harry Willoughby’s twenty-first, at Longhurst.


Every time we met, Dad asked me about Harry. Not about any of my new friends here, whose names he stubbornly refused to remember. Always it was Harry he wanted to know about. If we saw much of each other. If we were still close. If he had a girlfriend. No, was always the answer to this last question, because never have I met anyone in my life more focused on their future political career than Harry, anyone who showed less interest in romantic entanglements of any kind. It sometimes felt that the only reason Harry even had friends was because he thought it was the sort of thing a future prime minister ought to have.


‘Of course I’ve been invited,’ I said. It would have been embarrassing had I not, given how long I had known Harry, the connection between our fathers, the fact that we were in the same college.


It was not until the end of our meal that Dad revealed he had a favour to ask. Over dessert, I told him I was popping down to London the next week to look up some things in the Witt Library at the Courtauld Institute – Alice Long had suggested that their extensive holdings of exhibition catalogue clippings might hold something useful on the 1938 Surrealist Exhibition.


‘The Witt?’ he said. That was handy. There were a couple of paintings that Philip Willoughby was planning to sell and had asked him to establish the provenance of – who had owned them when, who had bought them where, the sort of paper trail that played such an important part in establishing a painting’s authenticity.


With its archive of millions of photographs, reproductions and clippings documenting the work of tens of thousands of artists, the Witt Library was as valuable a resource for art dealers as it was for scholars – once you had got used to its somewhat complicated filing system. The thing that was especially helpful for my father’s purposes being that among the library’s holdings are thousands of pictures taken by the Witt’s own librarians, who from the 1920s until the 1970s were periodically sent around to the great houses of England with cameras to record their art collections. To Cliveden. To Longleat. To Longhurst.


Which meant there was one simple, surefire way of establishing that a painting had been in the possession of the Willoughbys when the Witt’s librarians visited with their cameras in 1961. The downside being that someone had to go through all those green fabric-covered folders of hundreds of unsorted grainy black-and-white photographs and find the ones of the specific paintings in question.


Would I mind, if I was down at the Witt, my father asked, just checking a few things for him? He would make a note of what he wanted me to look for, the names of the paintings, the dates.


‘Of course,’ I heard myself saying.


‘There might be some cash in it for you,’ he added.


‘Fine,’ I said. ‘Sure. Since I’m down there anyway.’


It would have been churlish to refuse. He had done a lot for me, after all. He was the one who was paying for lunch. Who had paid my school fees, even when the business was not going well. I had been given a lot of chances in life that he had not. I did not ever want to seem ungrateful. It probably would not take me more than a couple of hours.


Still, it would have been nice if just once in a while, my dad dropped in on me without warning like this and did not have a favour to ask.


As I was walking Dad back to his car, two abreast on a pavement carpeted with wet leaves, he asked if I was excited about that evening.


‘This evening?’ I asked, as if I did not know what he was referring to.


‘Your investiture,’ he replied, grinning, practically nudging me in the ribs. ‘The Osiris Society.’


Ah yes. Two things I had been attempting not to think about, as it happened.


For almost as long as I could remember, Dad had been going on about the Osiris Society. Their famous dinners. Their legendary antics. How important it was, when I went to Cambridge (never if), that I was asked to join. For the seal of social approval. For the ridiculous pinkie ring.


It being the first Thursday of the month, it was also the first dinner of Michaelmas term, when new members were invested. There only ever being thirteen at any one time, this was considered something of an honour. When I had showed Dad the embossed invitation, signed by Harry as society president, it was a little tragic how excited he was.


‘I’m not sure,’ I told him, ‘whether it’s really my thing.’


He asked me what I was talking about.


One did not turn down an opportunity like this, he told me. If I really did not understand the potential professional advantages for someone planning a career as an art dealer in making these kinds of contacts, perhaps I should consider a different way of making a living. He probably did have a point.


I had once, as a snotty teenager, made an offhand remark about his never having been made a member, despite his great friend Philip being president when they were students. How that must have stung. How that must have rankled. Because at the end of the day, I observed – coldly, unkindly, annoyed with him about something, aiming to wound – despite all his sucking up, despite all his efforts at self-reinvention, none of those people were ever really going to forget, were they, that he was just a grammar school lad from South London who had grown up in a council flat?


He did not speak to me for a month.


‘Are you nervous about the investiture?’ he asked.


The truth was, I was dreading it. I had spent my whole time at Cambridge consciously avoiding the kind of boozy, boorish evening I was letting myself in for tonight. To make matters worse, Harry’s cousin Freddie – a practical joker, and like Harry a member of Osiris ever since their very first term at Cambridge – had been trying to make me as anxious as possible. Dropping hints about what it would involve. Like a cross between a rugby club initiation and joining the Masons, was how I had always imagined it. As it turned out, it was going to be far worse than that.


A week earlier Harry had told me what I was expected to procure for the ceremony. He had said to meet him in a pub around the corner from college, and I had arrived to find half the society at a table next to the fireplace, Osiris signet rings glinting as they sank their drinks. Freddie Talbot. Ivo Strang. Benjy Taylor. Arno von Westernhagen. Eric Lam. Handsome Hugo de Hauteville – Hugo de Hotville, some of the girls called him. All of them the sort of boys my father was so keen for me to associate with: rich, ambitious, well-connected. Absurdly so, in some cases. Arno von Westernhagen – tall, tanned, a keen skier, an even more enthusiastic rugby player – was an actual German count. He had gone to school in England but spent summers at his family castle – the schloss – in Bavaria.


I offered to buy a round and, when they all nodded thanks, prayed I had enough cash for eleven pints of lager and a Diet Coke with ice and lemon. This last item was for Arno von Westernhagen, who was not currently drinking, on medical advice, following a rugby head injury a few weeks earlier. ‘I was out cold for ten minutes,’ I could hear him explaining to Hugo and Benjy. ‘I went out for a few pints with the rest of the team that night and had a fucking seizure. The doctor told me no booze for six months.’


Harry followed me to the bar and handed me an envelope.


‘What’s this?’ I asked him.


‘Instructions,’ he said.


I went to open it, but he shook his head and told me to wait until I got home. So I finished my beer, made my excuses, and slipped off to fumble the envelope open. On the piece of paper inside, in Harry’s weirdly childish writing, were three words. Freddie was outside smoking with Eric Lam and Arno von Westernhagen as I left. He glanced down at the note in my hand.


‘Bring an animal?’ I said incredulously. ‘What does it mean, bring an animal? A live animal? A dead animal? What kind of animal?’


‘That’s up to you, Patrick. We’ve all had to do it. What was yours, Ivo? A pheasant?’ Freddie said, smirking.


Ivo nodded. ‘Got my dad to send it in the post.’


‘Arno, you brought a rabbit, if I remember correctly,’ said Freddie, clearly enjoying himself.


Arno confirmed this. He seemed to be smoking twice as much as usual now that he could not drink – he stubbed out one cigarette in a shower of orange sparks and immediately lit another.


‘Fur and all,’ he added. ‘I had to buy it frozen from a place that does pet food for snakes.’


Everyone seemed to be laughing, but I genuinely couldn’t tell if Freddie was joking.


‘We didn’t make this shit up. It’s all in the rules. It’s been the same investiture ceremony since the society was founded.’ He shrugged.


I gave him a long, hard look.


‘And what am I going to have to do with it, this animal?’


Freddie’s smile just widened.


‘Can’t tell you that, I’m afraid, Patrick.’


‘Why not? The rules again?’


Freddie shook his head. ‘Oh no, nothing in the rules about that. I just don’t want to spoil the surprise.’


Caroline, Cambridge, 1991


Right up until closing time I had stayed, reading Juliette’s journal, so intent on the pages in front of me that I didn’t notice the library emptying out. Eventually, the only ones left in the building were me and the librarian and someone pushing a mop around.


It was a vertiginous, rabbit-holey feeling, reading those diary entries.


Juliette’s story. In her own words. In her handwriting (beautiful but extremely hard to decipher), with her illustrations in the margins or sometimes taking up a page to themselves. Ink splotches from a fountain pen elaborated into drifting clouds, watercolour waves and landscapes in outline, deft charcoal sketches of the objects, places and people she was describing. Had it really been sitting right here all these years, at the bottom of a cardboard box?


If I was not finished with what I was looking at, the librarian gently reminded me, I could put the box to one side and continue with its contents when they reopened at 9 a.m. I looked up at the clock on the wall – it was five to seven. The cleaner had finished mopping now and had begun turning lights off.


In the middle of a fitful night’s sleep, I did experience a brief moment of panic. What if I went back the next day and the box was gone? What if I opened it and the journal was missing?


At ten to nine the next day, I was waiting outside the library, clutching my notepad. Without a break all morning, I laboriously transcribed, frowning over crossed-out phrases, indecipherable words. Eventually, I reached the end of that long first entry, winning a hard-fought battle with Juliette’s inky swoops. In the lobby of the library was a pay phone. From it, I called my friend Athena to ask if she could meet me for lunch in our college hall. I needed to speak to someone about all this. I was also starving.


In some ways we were an unlikely pair, Athena Galanis and I. If we hadn’t been put in neighbouring rooms in our first year, I probably would have been too intimidated even to talk to her. She was confident. She was clever. She was gorgeous, with a beauty people felt compelled to comment on the moment she left a room (tall and slender, with long, dark hair and enormous green eyes). It was only as I got to know her better – we first spoke properly when she asked to borrow my lecture notes, having missed a lecture for a family wedding on a private Greek island – I realized how funny she was too.


Athena was unlike anyone I’d ever met, and yet somehow, incrementally, over the course of that first year, she became my best friend. She was certainly the only person here I had told anything about my family, my childhood – although even with her there were lots of things I left out. Athena, in contrast, was full of stories about her dad (a Dubai-based Greek Cypriot businessman) and her mother, his second wife, Mila, a former model and Miss Russia runner-up.


Athena’s phone – she had moved out of college at the end of the first year, into a house her father bought her in central Cambridge – rang for a long time before she answered. When eventually, groggily, she did so, it was clear I had woken her up. I checked my watch. It was midday.


‘Caroline! I am so glad you called,’ she squealed when she realized it was me. ‘Because rumour has it you were spotted yesterday cruising through town in Patrick Lambert’s car . . .’


‘We had a supervision together. He offered me a lift afterwards. It was raining,’ I explained, trying to ignore the way that even the mention of Patrick’s name made me feel.


I could hear a soft chortle at the other end of the line. ‘You know he still fancies you, right?’


It was not the first time Athena had aired this theory – based as far as I could tell on nothing more than having seen him looking at me (‘with those soulful eyes of his’) across a lecture hall.


As usual, because just the thought of having to explain how I felt about relationships – and why – could threaten to bring on familiar throat-tightening symptoms of panic, I swerved the subject. I wasn’t calling about Patrick, I said. This was something much more important. She agreed to meet me in twenty minutes. As ever, despite having only just rolled out of bed, she looked immaculate when I arrived at the college dining hall. On the long oak table in front of her was a plate of cucumber onto which she was shaking a snowstorm of salt, her lunch most days. She greeted me with an expectant expression as I unravelled my scarf and sat down.


I talked her through the last twenty-four hours as swiftly as I could. Alice Long. The Willoughby Bequest. The passport and the necklace and the journal. Telling someone else about it for the first time made it all feel both more real and more strange, somehow.


‘My God, Caroline, this is incredible,’ Athena kept saying, eyes wide. ‘So exciting.’


‘That’s not all,’ I told her. I took my notepad out and read her my transcription of the final paragraph of the first journal entry.


Athena put her fork down. She was looking at me seriously. ‘Go on, then,’ she said. ‘What are these secrets, the things she has not told Oskar about herself? What happens next?’


‘I don’t know,’ I admitted. ‘I’ve only read the first entry so far.’


Athena rolled her eyes in frustration. ‘So let’s read on, right now.’


‘We can’t. There is only one copy of that journal in the whole world,’ I explained. ‘It’s not something they are going to let anyone photocopy or borrow.’


‘I’d just have taken it,’ Athena said. ‘I’d have liberated the thing. Are you seriously going to copy the whole thing out by hand?’


‘Of course!’ I said. If that was what it took, I mentally added, suddenly aware of the scale of the task ahead of me. This was precisely the kind of discovery which Alice Long had been talking about. The kind which put forgotten female artists back on the map. The kind which shed new light on women we thought we knew. The kind – and I must admit this thought had also occurred to me – which launched academic careers.


‘What I don’t understand,’ said Athena, ‘is how any of that stuff got there in the first place.’


‘I’m meeting the archivist to ask exactly that, at two o’clock,’ I said. I was also planning to go first to the History of Art library to borrow Walter Loftus’s classic, definitive biography of Oskar Erlich.


‘Well, well, well,’ a familiar voice boomed from across the hall.


We both looked up. Freddie Talbot.


He barrelled over with his lunch tray, dropped down onto the bench, and pecked Athena swiftly on the cheek without ever quite breaking eye contact with me.


‘Caroline,’ he said, a little curtly.


‘Freddie,’ I replied, without warmth.


I had never understood Athena’s relationship with Freddie, her on-off boyfriend – although I’d never heard him use that word – of the past two years.


On paper at least, I suppose they were well-matched. Athena was charming, intelligent, gorgeous. She spoke at least five languages fluently – Greek with her father and half-siblings, Russian with her mother, the French and Arabic she had picked up from her Lebanese nanny, and English at her international school. Freddie, a final-year vet student, was tall, well-built, and every bit as good-looking as she was, with a mop of sandy hair, freckles, an oddly appealing sports-flattened nose, and a strong jaw. He rowed for his college. He played rugby for the university.


He was also a complete arsehole. The kind of person you are never quite sure is going to acknowledge having met you before. Useless at making plans, or at least remembering them. Rude. Deliberately boorish. A liability when drunk, with a well-known habit of suddenly climbing up things: fountains, scaffolding, stationary Sainsbury’s vans. The kind of twat who loosens the lids of saltshakers and deliberately sets off fire alarms.


Pretty much their entire relationship, it seemed to me, was conducted between the hours of 11 p.m. (college bar kicking-out time) and whenever he skulked back from Athena’s room to his. More than once he had staggered in after some boozy dinner with his equally awful friends just to throw up in her sink and pass out. Every so often, he would publicly hook up with another girl in a nightclub, and there would follow weeks of recriminations and crying.


Whenever I had tried to talk to Athena about their relationship, she had made it clear that the situation was complicated, that Freddie was complicated, that I would not understand. Occasionally she would also drop unsubtle hints about their sex life. How passionate it was, how intense.


Something I had not noticed about Freddie before, or at least really registered, was the signet ring on his pinkie. Seeing me glance at it, he swiftly moved his hand under the table.


‘Freddie,’ I said, ‘can I ask about your ring?’


‘My ring?’ His expression, the tone of his voice, sought to suggest he had not even really been aware he was wearing a ring.


‘Can I see it?’


Freddie hesitated. Eventually, Athena nudged him. Reluctantly, he brought his hand out from under the table and held it up for me. The ring had the same design on it as Juliette Willoughby’s necklace. The same elaborate eye design, exactly.


‘Well, go on,’ said Athena, nudging him again. ‘Tell her what it is.’


Freddie said nothing.


‘It’s an Osiris ring,’ explained Athena. ‘It means Freddie is a member of the Osiris Society.’


‘The Osiris Society? What’s that?’ I asked.


‘It’s nothing,’ said Freddie, with a scowl at Athena.


‘It’s a drinking society,’ said Athena, smiling back at him. ‘A secret drinking society.’


‘It’s a dining society,’ Freddie corrected, his scowl deepening. ‘We have dinners four times a term. There’s nothing secret about it.’


Having finished his lunch and pushed his plate away, Freddie wiped his mouth with the back of his hand and checked his watch.


‘Christ,’ he said. ‘I’d better go. Got something to pick up from the vet school at one thirty.’ Then with another peck on Athena’s cheek – and a little glance around to see if anyone had noticed – he was gone, leaving us his empty plate and tray to clear.


The History of Art library is on Scroope Terrace, a ten-minute walk from my college. I was approaching it when I heard the banging. Unable for a moment to tell which direction it was coming from, I finally spotted a dark blue car, parked facing in my direction – in the front were two men, the passenger screaming at the driver, so furious he was repeatedly punching the ceiling of the car, bouncing red-faced in his seat like Rumpelstiltskin. The driver was just sitting there, staring straight ahead, flinching occasionally. Then the angry man abruptly stopped yelling and took three attempts to get out of the car – kicking the door open so hard it swung closed on him again, catching the sleeve of his grey tracksuit on something and then storming off past me, muttering to himself, a man in his forties with glints of silver in his close-cropped hair.


Only as I got closer did I realize whose car it was: Freddie was in the driver’s seat. I was about to walk over, tap on the window and check that he was okay when he started the car, swerved out into the traffic, and screeched off.


The strangest thing of all was his expression, one I had never seen on his face before. Freddie Talbot looked genuinely scared.





‘The Fire’ – an extract from Oskar Erlich: Man and Painter, by Walter Loftus (London: Faber & Faber, 1982)





The fire that killed Oskar Erlich and Juliette Willoughby broke out just after midnight on 25 February 1938.


It was the concierge of their apartment building, M. Robert Durand, who first raised the alarm. Awoken (he would later recall) by a knock at his door, he opened it to investigate, found no one there, smelled smoke, and looked up to see an orange flickering behind the curtains of Oskar and Juliette’s fourth-floor apartment. By the time he had brought his wife to look, the curtains were on fire.


If there was a silver lining to the tragedy, it is that the apartment Oskar and Juliette shared was on the very top floor of the building. Thanks to the timely intervention of M. Durand and his wife, the lower floors were evacuated swiftly, the building’s inhabitants ushered into the courtyard, where they huddled on one side of it to watch in horror. There was no chance of rescuing either Oskar or Juliette.


Multiple neighbours later recalled having seen Oskar return to the apartment at around ten that evening, seemingly a little tipsy. Whistling his way down the street, across the courtyard, up the stairs. Others recalled hearing raised voices from the apartment – a man and a woman, speaking loudly, in English – at around the same time. It would appear that the fire broke out a few hours later, when both Oskar and Juliette were sleeping.


The most likely cause of the blaze was a spark escaping from the stove, or a flammable item placed on top of it combusting in the heat. Given the typical contents of an artist’s studio – paper, canvas, tins of paints, bottles of white spirit – it is hardly surprising the fire spread as swiftly as it did.


According to eyewitness reports, M. Durand repeatedly tried to climb the stairs, calling Oskar’s and Juliette’s names, attempting a rescue. The third and final time he was forced back by the heat and smoke the sleeve of his shirt was smouldering. It took almost three hours to extinguish the blaze, innumerable gallons of water.


Word spread to the bars of Montparnasse, and the building’s inhabitants, mostly in pyjamas with coats thrown over them, found themselves joined by Juliette’s and Oskar’s friends and contemporaries. Artists and models. Waiters and taxi drivers. All silently gathered to watch as the flames licked the sky, hoping perhaps for some unexpected miracle. For the apartment to have actually been empty, for the lovers to come arm in arm around the corner, alive and unharmed.


The word the official report used for the condition of the two bodies found on what remained of the iron bedstead was carbonisés. Two blackened skeletons fused by the heat of the room in which they died in a permanent embrace. Juliette’s body was identified by the gold pendant she wore around her neck, Oskar’s by his steel wristwatch.


It is said that one in the crowd – a fellow artist? a hopeful buyer? – inquired, as the soot-blackened firefighters washed themselves down at the pump in the courtyard, if any of the paintings in the apartment had survived. There was an exchange of looks between the men at the pump, scrubbing hands that would nevertheless remain grey for days, a headshake, then the eventual answer: Non, tout a brûlé.


All the work, finished and unfinished, that once hung on the walls would have been the first to go. The paint. The canvas. The frames. All of it popping and hissing, cracking and sizzling, exploding into flames as the curtains danced in the updraft.


As one of the most brilliant artists of the era died at the age of forty-six in the arms of his beautiful young lover.
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